
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,  

    Plaintiff,       

-v- 
 

$400,000.00 in United States Currency,  
 

       Defendant. 
______________________________________________ 

 
 

VERIFIED COMPLAINT FOR FORFEITURE 
 

 
 

The United States of America, by its attorney, William J. Hochul, Jr., United States 

Attorney for the Western District of New York, Richard Kaufman, Assistant United States 

Attorney, of counsel, for its verified complaint herein alleges as follows: 

 

 
 

1. This is an action in rem for the forfeiture of $400,000.00 in United States 

currency, hereinafter referred to as “defendant currency”.  The defendant currency is 

subject to seizure and forfeiture pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 

981(a)(1)(C) because the monies were proceeds derived from the unlawful sale of 

untaxed cigarettes, a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2341(2). 

 

 
 

2. This Court has jurisdiction of this action pursuant to the provisions of 
 
Title 28, United States Code, Sections 1345 and 1355. Venue is properly premised in 
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the Western District of New York pursuant to Title 28, United States Code, Sections 
 
1355(b)(1) and 1395. 
 

 

INTRODUCTION 
 

3. All cigarettes distributed in New York State, including cigarettes destined for 

sale on Native American reservations, must be received and shipped by agents licensed by 

New York State to do so.  In order to assure that the State has the ability to regulate and 

tax cigarette distribution within its borders, the New York State Department of 

Taxation and Finance has delegated the responsibility for receipt of all out-of-state 

cigarettes and for collecting the cigarette excise tax to several licensed agents, who are 

the only New York State entities entitled to receive untaxed cigarettes in commercial 

quantities directly from a cigarette manufacturer or other out-of-state source.  Thereafter, 

the licensed agent is generally required to place a tax stamp on all packs of cigarettes 

destined for sale in New York State, thereby, demonstrating that New York State has 

properly levied the State cigarette excise tax licensed agent.   

 

4. During the investigation, it was determined that the parties involved in the 

shipping of the contraband cigarettes in interstate commerce also filed false information to 

the appropriate taxation authorities as required under the Jenkins Act, Title 15, United 

States Code, Sections 375-378.  All cigarette sales made by a stamping agent are required 

by New York State law to be recorded on a form known as Form CG which had to be 

sent on a monthly basis to the NYSDT in Albany, New York, with a certificate that the 

information contained therein was true and correct. 
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SCHEME 
 

 

5. During the time period of September 24, 2012 – January 14, 2013, AARON 

PIERCE through his corporation, AJ’s Wholesale LLC (“hereafter “AJ’s”) sold 403,413 

cartons of cigarettes in a manner designed to make it look on paper as though the untaxed 

cigarettes were legitimately obtained through Ho-Chunk, Inc. (“HCID”) a tribal cigarette 

and tobacco distributor, a corporation operated by the Winnebago Tribe of Nebraska, as 

well as other Native American cigarette and tobacco suppliers.  

 

 

6. Ho-Chunk, Inc. is the parent company of HCI Logistics (HCIL) which is a 

commercial transportation company that HCID would use to transport product from the 

HCID warehouse in Winnebago, Nebraska.  Neither HCID nor HCIL are licensed tobacco 

wholesalers or state stamping agents in Nebraska or New York State. 

 

7. New York State imposes excise taxes on all cigarettes sold in the state, unless 

expressly exempted by law or by private agreement between New York State and an Indian 

nation or tribe (either approved by the legislature or part of a stipulation and order 

approved by a federal court).  Under New York State law, cigarettes can only be 

transported into the state by a limited number of state-licensed stamping agents (i.e. 

wholesalers).  The New York Department of Taxation and Finance pre-collects the 

cigarette excise tax from these state-licensed stamping agents on cigarettes that are sold to 

retailers, but prior to their delivery to the retailers.  Federal and New York State law require 

that tax stamps be affixed to cigarette packages-prior to the delivery to retailers-reflecting  
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that the required state taxes have been paid.  During the relevant time period, New York 

State imposed a cigarette excise tax of $4.35 per pack or $43.50 per carton. 

 
 

8. In New York State, only licensed wholesalers may purchase unstamped 

cigarettes.  This is done either directly through the cigarette manufacturer or through other 

wholesalers.  Under New York State law, it is the obligation of state-licensed stamping 

agents to prepay the excise tax and affixed stamps to all cigarette packs.  The tobacco 

wholesalers must also report the sales of cigarettes to the state. 

 

 
 

9. AJ received shipments of cigarettes through HCID while HCID was involved 

in a conspiracy to transport contraband cigarettes onto Indian reservations located in New 

York State, without New York State’s prior approval, in order to avoid New York State 

cigarette taxes and its reporting requirements.  HCID procured the contraband cigarettes 

from an undercover ATF agent located outside of New York.  An associate entity with 

HCID sold the cigarettes to AJs which benefitted by not having to pay the New York State 

cigarette taxes on them and was then able to undercut the prices charged by off-reservation 

cigarette retailers.  A review of the AJ’s records and invoices indicate that 403,413 cartons 

of Native brand cigarettes were received and sold to reservation smoke-shops in Long 

Island, New York in this unlawful manner in the time period of September 24, 2012 – 

January 14, 2013. 
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 10. The proceeds of the sales of the specified contraband cigarette totaled to at 

least $400,000 and deprived New York State of tax revenue in that no excise tax was 

collected on the cigarettes according to law.  The monies are presently in the custody of the 

putative claimant Aaron J. Pierce and/or AJ’s Wholesale, LLC.  

 

 

REQUEST FOR RELIEF 
 
 

12. Upon information and belief, the person and/or entity that may have an 

interest in the defendant currency are as follows: 

AARON J. PIERCE      AJ’S WHOLESALE, LLC 
 

 

13. Based on all the foregoing facts, the circumstances surrounding these facts, 

and the experience and training of the officers involved, there is probable cause to believe 

that the defendant currency is forfeitable as it represents monies grossed in the sale of 

cigarettes bearing no evidence of the payment of applicable state cigarette taxes in the 

State of New York and were knowingly and unlawfully possessed and distributed in 

violation of the Contraband Cigarette Trafficking Act, and Title 18, United States Code, 

Section 2342(a).  The defendant currency is therefore subject to forfeiture to the United 

States in accordance with the provisions of Title 18, United States Code, Section 

981(a)(1)(C). 

WHEREFORE, the plaintiff requests the following relief: 
 

(a) that a warrant and summons for arrest of articles in rem be issued for 
the defendant currency; 

 
(b) that notice of this action be given to all persons known or thought to 
have an interest in or right against the property; 
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(c) that judgment be entered declaring the defendant currency be forfeited 
and condemned to the United States of America for disposition in 
accordance with law; 

 
(d) that the plaintiff be awarded its costs and disbursements in this action 
and for such other and further relief as this court deems proper and just. 
 

 
DATED:  Buffalo, New York, February 2 , 2015 
 
 

WILLIAM J. HOCHUL, JR. 
United States Attorney  

 
BY:      s/RICHARD D. KAUFMAN 

Assistant United States Attorney 
United States Attorney’s Office 
Western District of New York 
138 Delaware Avenue 
Buffalo, NY 14202 
716-843-5871 
richard.kaufman@usdoj.gov 
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STATE OF NEW YORK ) 
COUNTY OF ERIE )   ss 
CITY OF BUFFALO ) 

 

STEVEN E. DICKEY, being duly sworn, deposes and says: 

I am a Special Agent for the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives, 

in the Western District of New York, and I am a case agent assigned to the forfeiture case 

against $400,000.00 in United States Currency on behalf of the United States of America.  

The facts alleged in the complaint for forfeiture are true to the best of my knowledge and 

belief based upon my own investigation, information furnished to me by officials of the 

Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives and other law enforcement agencies. 

 
 
      s/STEVEN E. DICKEY 
      Special Agent 
      Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms 
        and Explosives (ATF) 
 
 
Subscribed and sworn to before me 
this 30th day of January, 2015. 
 
 
s/Patricia L Young  
PATRICIA L. YOUNG 
Notary Public, State of New York 
Qualified in Niagara County 
My Commission Expires:  11-13-2017 
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